JAMES MICHAEL HUGHES, :

Petitioner, :

:

v.

CASE NO. SC02-2247 1D02-1258

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER Assistant Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit Fla. Bar No. 197890 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

	<u> PAGE(S)</u>

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question from the First District

Court of Appeal. Jurisdiction arises under Art. V, $\S3(b)(4)$, Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). The issue is whether the decision in <u>Apprendi v. New</u> <u>Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), applies retroactively.

A 16-page record on appeal will be referred to as "I R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

This brief is printed in 12 point Courier New font and submitted on a disk. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as Hughes v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D2169 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 2, 2002).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 7, 2001, petitioner filed a pro se motion to correct sentence under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a), in which he alleged that he had been convicted of battery on a jail detainee by another jail detainee, a third degree felony, and sentenced to 80.4 months in state prison, on a 1995 sentencing guidelines scoresheet which contained four points for legal status and 40 points for severe victim injury. (I R 10-13). Petitioner alleged that his 80.4 month state prison sentence, in excess of the statutory maximum, was illegal because no jury had found the legal status and victim injury points, in violation of <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, *supra*, and without those 44 points, his guidelines range would be 27.3 to 45.5 months (I R 1-7).

On July 10, 2001, the judge summarily denied petitioner's motion, and found that <u>Apprendi</u> was not to be applied retroactively to petitioner's crime, and that <u>Apprendi</u> did not overrule this Court's decision in <u>Mays v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1998),¹ which allowed a sentence to exceed the normal statutory maximum if the sentencing guidelines scoresheet so required (I R 14-15).

On July 23, 2001, petitioner filed a timely pro se notice of appeal (I R 16). By unreported order dated June 6, 2002, the lower tribunal ordered the state to respond

¹Mis-cited as volume 715 So. 2d in the opinion below.

to the question of whether <u>Apprendi</u> required a reversal of the judge's order. The state filed its response on July 17, 2002.

By unreported order dated July 19, 2002, the lower tribunal appointed this Office to represent petitioner and requested it to file a reply to the state's response. This Office filed its reply on August 1, 2002, and argued that both <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. ____, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), required a reversal of petitioner's sentence.

The lower tribunal announced five holdings in its opinion. It first held that Rule 3.800(a) was the proper vehicle to raise the <u>Apprendi</u> claim. Appendix at 2. The lower tribunal then held that the assessment of four legal status points did not violate <u>Apprendi</u> because the jury necessarily found that petitioner was under legal status when it found him guilty of the crime. Appendix at 2.

The lower tribunal then held that the assessment of 40 points for severe victim injury did violate <u>Apprendi</u>, since they were not found by the jury. Appendix at 2. The lower tribunal then held that <u>Apprendi</u> had effectively overruled <u>Mays v. State</u>, *supra*. Appendix at 2.

The lower tribunal finally held that Apprendi was not applicable to petitioner's

sentence, which became final before <u>Apprendi</u> was decided on June 26, 2000.² The lower tribunal applied the three-prong test for retroactivity as announced by this Court in <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). The lower tribunal found that <u>Apprendi</u> satisfied the first two prongs, because it was a constitutional change in the law from the U.S. Supreme Court. Appendix at 3.

The lower tribunal then applied the three-part test of <u>Stovall v. Denno</u>, 386 U.S. 293 (1967), and <u>Linkletter v. Walker</u>, 381 U.S. 618 (1965), found that <u>Apprendi</u> was not a development in the law of fundamental significance, and so refused to apply it retroactively to petitioner's sentence. Appendix at 4-5. The lower tribunal did, however, certify the following question to this Court:

DOES THE RULING ANNOUNCED IN <u>APPRENDI v. NEW</u> <u>JERSEY</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), APPLY RETROACTIVELY?

Appendix at 5.

Notice of Discretionary Review was timely filed.

 $^{^{2}}$ The lower tribunal did not mention the effect of *Ring v. Arizona, supra*, which was decided on June 24, 2002.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner will argue in this brief that the decision in <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, supra, must be applied retroactively to allow petitioner to attack his 80.4 month sentence, which was in excess of the statutory maximum. In <u>Apprendi</u>, the Court held that any fact which increases the penalty for a state crime beyond the statutory maximum, except for the existence of prior convictions, must be submitted to the jury and found by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt, because to allow the judge to make such finding would be a violation of due process.

The standard of review is de novo, since the test for retroactivity is purely a question of state law under <u>Witt v. State</u>, *supra*. The federal view of which decisions should be applied retroactively is not applicable, since we are free to adopt our own test, and have done so in <u>Witt</u>. The <u>Witt</u> test contains an element of fairness not present in the federal test.

The lower tribunal properly found that <u>Apprendi</u> was entitled to retroactive application because it emanated from the U.S. Supreme Court and was constitutional in nature. However, the lower tribunal erred in finding that it was not a fundamental change in the law of sentencing.

Apprendi did announce a change in the law of fundamental significance, since it

outlawed the long-standing practice of the judge considering sentencing factors without a determination of those factors by a jury. Allowing a judge alone to assess points on the sentencing guidelines scoresheet is no longer constitutionally permitted.

The lower tribunal also failed to consider the effect of <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, *supra*, on petitioner's sentence. In <u>Ring</u>, the Court held that an aggravating circumstance to support a death sentence must be found by a jury, because to allow the judge to make such finding would be a violation of the right to trial by jury. In deciding <u>Ring</u>, the Court cited <u>Apprendi</u> with approval and noted that if the state seeks to increase the penalty beyond what the jury's verdict would authorize, the factors supporting the increase must be found by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

Thus, assessing points for victim injury and legal status, just like an aggravating circumstance in a capital case, increases the defendant's sentence beyond the normal maximum authorized penalty. A judge alone may no longer constitutionally make a finding of fact to support a sentence in excess of the normal statutory maximum. Thus, after <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Ring</u>, only a jury is authorized to find victim injury and legal status points.

One need only read the separate acrimonious opinions of the justices in these two

cases to see that these are fundamentally significant, and not the type of evolutionary changes in the law which would militate against retroactive application.

The lower tribunal's main concern was that a retroactive application of <u>Apprendi</u> would have a monumental impact on the administration of justice, for it would open the floodgates and require judges to recalculate many sentencing guidelines scoresheets.

The lower tribunal's concerns are unfounded, because the decision applies only to those defendants who were sentenced under the former sentencing guidelines statute which permitted a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum. That statute was only in existence for four years and nine months, and there are only nine reported decisions discussing it. The class of such inmates is further limited by two more factors -- if a defendant enters a plea and admits that he seriously injured the victim, or if the jury necessarily found victim injury in finding the defendant guilty of the charge, then he cannot later challenge the assessment of victim injury points.

Courts will only have to look at the scoresheets to determine if the defendant received a guidelines sentence in excess of the normal statutory maximum and then to

determine if they assessed points for something other than prior record (such as legal status or victim injury). The courts will not have to be concerned that the retroactive application of <u>Apprendi</u> will lead to new trials being awarded or convictions being vacated.

The administrative of justice would be more detrimentally affected if criminal defendants, such as petitioner, had the misfortune of receiving guidelines sentences in excess of the normal statutory maximum during this four year and nine month period. Fundamental fairness requires that this significant change in the law be applied retroactively to petitioner's benefit.

Petitioner's pro se motion satisfies the requirements for pleading in a motion to correct or vacate a sentence -- it alleges an illegal sentence, which is apparent on the face of the record, and entitles him to relief. The proper remedy is to reverse the decision of the lower tribunal and remand with directions that petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheet be corrected and that he be resentenced in accord with a properly-prepared scoresheet.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISIONS ANNOUNCED IN <u>APPRENDI v. NEW</u> <u>JERSEY</u> AND <u>RING v. ARIZONA</u> MUST BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY TO PETITIONER, WHOSE SENTENCE HAD BECOME FINAL, BUT WHOSE SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORESHEET CONTAINS POINTS FOR FACTORS WHICH WERE NOT FOUND BY THE JURY BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Petitioner was convicted of battery on a jail detainee by another jail detainee and sentenced to 80.4 months in state prison, on a 1995 sentencing guidelines scoresheet which contained four points for legal status and 40 points for severe victim injury. This crime is a third degree felony, normally punishable by a maximum of five years in state prison.³

Petitioner pro se motion to correct sentence alleged that his 80.4 month state prison sentence, in excess of the statutory maximum, was illegal because no jury had found the legal status and victim injury points, in violation of <u>Apprendi v. New</u> <u>Jersey</u>, *supra*, and without those 44 points, his guidelines range would be 27.3 to 45.5 months.

The lower tribunal found that the assessment of 40 severe victim injury points by the judge alone was no longer permitted under <u>Apprendi</u>, but refused to apply <u>Apprendi</u> retroactively to correct petitioner's scoresheet and sentence.

³§§775.082(3)(d) and 784.082(3), Fla. Stat. (1997).

The standard of review is de novo, since this is purely a question of state law.

A. <u>APPRENDI</u> ANNOUNCED A NEW RULE OF LAW OF CONSTITUTIONAL SIGNIFICANCE.

In <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, *supra*, the Court held that <u>any fact which increases</u> <u>the penalty for a state crime beyond the statutory maximum</u>, except for the existence of prior convictions, <u>must be submitted to the jury and found by the jury beyond a</u> <u>reasonable doubt</u>, because to allow the judge to make such finding would be a violation of due process:

> In sum, our reexamination of our cases in this area, and of the history upon which they rely, confirms the opinion that we expressed in *Jones* [v. *United States*, 526 U.S. 227, 119 S.C. 1215, 143 L.Ed.2d 311 (1999)]. Other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. With that exception, we endorse the statement of the rule set forth in the concurring opinions in that case: "[It is unconstitutional for a legislature to remove from the jury the assessment of facts that increase the prescribed range of penalties to which a criminal defendant is exposed. It is equally clear that such facts must be established by proof beyond a reasonable doubt." 526 U.S., at 252-253, 119 S.C. 1215 (opinion of STEVENS, J.); see also id., at 253, 119 S.C. 1215 (opinion of SCALIA, J.). [FN16]

[FN16] The principal dissent would reject the Court's rule as a "meaningless formalism," because it can conceive of hypothetical statutes that would comply with the rule and achieve the same result as the New Jersey statute. Post, at 2388-2390. While a State could, hypothetically, undertake to

revise its entire criminal code in the manner the dissent suggests, post, at 2389 -- extending all statutory maximum sentences to, for example, 50 years and giving judges guided discretion as to a few specially selected factors within that range -- this possibility seems remote. Among other reasons, structural democratic constraints exist to discourage legislatures from enacting penal statutes that expose every defendant convicted of, for example, weapons possession, to a maximum sentence exceeding that which is, in the legislature's judgment, generally proportional to the crime. This is as it should be. Our rule ensures that a State is obliged "to make its choices concerning the substantive content of its criminal laws with full awareness of the consequence, unable to mask substantive policy choices" of exposing all who are convicted to the maximum sentence it provides. Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S., at 228-229, n. 13, 97 S.C. 2319 (Powell, J., dissenting). So exposed, "[the political check on potentially harsh legislative action is then more likely to operate." Ibid. In all events, if such an extensive revision of the State's entire criminal code were enacted for the purpose the dissent suggests, or if New Jersey simply reversed the burden of the hate crime finding (effectively assuming a crime was performed with a purpose to intimidate and then requiring a defendant to prove that it was not, post, at 2390), we would be required to question whether the revision was constitutional under this Court's prior decisions. See Patterson, 432 U.S., at 210, 97 S.C. 2319; Multan v. Wilbur, 421 U.S. 684, 698-702, 95 S.C. 1881, 44 L.Ed.2d 508. Finally, the principal dissent ignores the distinction the Court has often recognized, see, e.g., Martin v. Ohio, 480 U.S. 228, 107 S.C. 1098, 94 L.Ed.2d 267 (1987), between facts in aggravation of punishment and facts in mitigation. See post, at 2389-2390. If facts found by a jury support a quilty verdict of murder, the judge is authorized by that jury verdict to sentence the defendant to the maximum sentence provided by the murder statute. If the

defendant can escape the statutory maximum by showing, for example, that he is a war veteran, then a judge that finds the fact of veteran status is neither exposing the defendant to a deprivation of liberty greater than that authorized by the verdict according to statute, nor is the Judge imposing upon the defendant a greater stigma than that accompanying the jury verdict alone. See supra, at 2359. Core concerns animating the jury and burden-of-proof requirements are thus absent from such a scheme.

120 S.Ct. at 2362-63; bold emphasis added.

The <u>Apprendi</u> majority did not overrule, but severely limited, the Court's prior decision in <u>McMillan v. Pennsylvania</u>, 477 U.S. 79 (1986), in which the Court coined the term "sentencing factor," and held that the judge could find use of a firearm (not found by the jury) to impose a statutory minimum mandatory sentence. The <u>Apprendi</u> majority found that even though the hate crime factor, which enhanced the defendant's sentence beyond the normal statutory maximum, appeared in a penalty statute and not in the statute defining the elements of the crime, that did not matter, because the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, U.S. Const., required that factor to be submitted to the jury and found by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

Justice Thomas, concurring, expressed the view that <u>McMillan</u> was wrongly decided, and the Court should adopt a broader common law rule that: "If a fact is by law the

basis for imposing or increasing punishment -- for establishing or increasing the prosecution's entitlement -- it is an element. (To put the point differently, I am aware of no historical basis for treating as a nonelement a fact that by law sets or increases punishment.)" 120 S.Ct. at 2379.

Justice O'Connor, dissenting, stated that <u>Apprendi</u> "will surely be remembered as a watershed change in constitutional law." 120 S.Ct. at 2380. In her view, <u>McMillan</u> has been effectively overruled by <u>Apprendi</u>, because: "In one bold stroke the Court today casts aside our traditional cautious approach and instead embraces a universal and seemingly bright-line rule limiting the power of Congress and state legislatures to define criminal offenses and the sentences that follow from convictions thereunder." 120 S.Ct. at 2381.

Justice Breyer, dissenting, noted that: "In modern times the law has left it to the sentencing judge to find those facts which (within broad sentencing limits set by the legislature) determine the sentence of a convicted offender." 120 S.Ct. at 2397. In his view, <u>Apprendi</u> is contrary to the recent trend to adopt sentencing guidelines, in which judges are permitted to consider certain factors not found by the jury.

The lower tribunal cited <u>United States v. Cotton</u>, 563 U.S. ___, 122 S.Ct. 1781, 152 L.Ed.2d 860 (2002), for the proposition that an <u>Apprendi</u> violation could be harmless error.

That statement is true as far as it goes. But <u>Cotton</u> is totally distinguishable. The question there was whether a federal indictment must allege the quantity of drugs where the judge imposed a statutorily-required mandatory minimum sentence for that quantity. The issue had not been raised at trial, but rather was raised for the first time on appeal after <u>Apprendi</u> was decided.

Moreover, Florida has always had a state requirement, requiring the information to specifically allege the quantity of drugs, and the jury to specifically find the quantity in its verdict. *See, e.g.*, <u>Ankiel v. State</u>, 479 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); and <u>Rickman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

There is no doubt that <u>Apprendi</u> constitutes a significant change in the constitutional law of sentencing. Allowing a judge alone to find legal status and victim injury under §921.0011(3) and (7), Fla. Stat. (1997), and to assess additional points on the scoresheet for these two factors, is no longer constitutionally valid after <u>Apprendi</u>.⁴

⁴The state may argue that this position was rejected by this Court in *Hall v. State*, 823 So. 2d 757 (Fla. 2002). Not so. *Hall* was a criminal punishment code case, where the sentence was *within* the normal statutory maximum, not a sentencing guidelines case, in which the sentence is *beyond* the normal statutory maximum. Nor is the lower tribunal's decision in *Isaac v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1680 (Fla. 1st DCA July 23, 2002), controlling, because in that case the departure sentence was *within*

B. <u>RING</u> ANNOUNCED A NEW RULE OF LAW OF CONSTITUTIONAL SIGNIFICANCE.

This Court must also consider the effect of <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, *supra*, on petitioner's 80.4 month sentence. <u>Ring</u> lends support to petitioner's argument that <u>Apprendi</u> does apply retroactively to allow a collateral attack on petitioner's sentence.

In <u>Ring</u>, the Court held that an aggravating circumstance to support a death sentence must be found by a jury, because to allow the judge to make such finding would be a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury. In Arizona, the presumptively-correct and maximum penalty available for a verdict of first degree murder by the jury is life in prison. The judge must impose a life sentence unless he alone finds aggravating circumstances to support the death penalty.⁵ In <u>Ring</u>, the Court overruled <u>Walton v. Arizona</u>, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), a decision only two years old, which had approved Arizona's death penalty sentencing scheme, because it was

the normal statutory maximum.

⁵This Court has declined to decide the effect of *Ring* on Florida's death penalty statute. *See Bottoson v. Moore*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S___ (Fla. Oct. 24, 2002), and *King v. Moore*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S___ (Fla. Oct. 24, 2002).

irreconcilable with Apprendi.

In deciding <u>Ring</u>, the Court cited <u>Apprendi</u> with approval and noted that <u>if the</u> <u>state seeks to increase the penalty beyond what the jury's verdict would authorize</u>, <u>the factors supporting the increase must be found by the jury beyond a reasonable</u> doubt:

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