IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES MICHAEL HUGHES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC02-2247

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

TRISHA E. MEGGS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

probability that a jury's finding regarding a sentencing factor will be any different from that of a judge. Thus, the due process and equal protection concerns involved in <u>Apprendi</u> are insignificant.

Moreover, an <u>Apprendi</u> error is not fundamental and must be raised in the trial court to be argued on direct appeal. Because <u>Apprendi</u> error can be harmless, the purpose behind the change of law is not fundamentally significant or of sufficient magnitude to be a candidate for retroactive application. In fact, nine federal circuit courts and two state supreme courts have found that <u>Apprendi</u> is not retroactive.

In addition, the trial judges have historically had the ability to determine sentencing factors, which weighs against applying Apprendi retroactively to post-conviction proceedings. Indeed, if this Court did give retroactive application to the Apprendi decision the impact on the administration of justice would be monumental. Petitioner is incorrect in arguing that there is only a window period of four years and nine months in which cases could be effective by the retroactive application of Apprendi. The period is much larger, and the fact that one can calculate a window period does not change the fact that the retroactive application of Apprendi would be monumental. Additionally, the retroactive application of Apprendi would result in a windfall to criminal defendants because there is not a reasonable probability that had the sentencing factor been presented to a jury rather than a judge the results would have

been different. In fact, retroactive application of Apprendi would place criminal defendants whose convictions were final in a better position that defendants who were convicted after the United States Supreme Court issued Apprendi because defendants raising the issue in post-conviction proceedings could have the points automatically deducted from their scoresheet, while a defendant raising an Apprendi violation on direct appeal would NOT be entitled to relief if he or she had not preserved the issue. Accordingly, the First District was correct in finding that Apprendi was not a change of law that constituted a development of fundamental significance which required retroactive application, and its opinion should be approved.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES THE RULING ANNOUNCED IN <u>APPRENDI V. NEW</u> <u>JERSEY</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), APPLY RETROACTIVELY? (Restated)

Introduction

There are several preliminary points which must be recognized prior to addressing the narrow issue of whether <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), should be applied retroactively in post-conviction proceedings as the petitioner contends.

These proceedings were initiated by a motion filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) alleging that the sentence imposed was illegal because it exceeded the maximum five-year sentence authorized by the legislature for a third degree felony. The trial court denied the motion because it found that the sentence was within the statutory maximum created by the Florida Legislature in section 921.0014(2), Florida Statutes and upheld by this Court in Mays v. State, 717 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1998). The trial court rejected petitioner's argument that Mays had been overruled by Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) noting that there was no support for such an argument and that inferior Florida courts could not overrule decisions of the Florida Supreme Court.

The very narrow issue on appeal in the district court from the summary denial of a rule 3.800(a) motion, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.141(b) was whether the abbreviated record on appeal shows conclusively that no relief was appropriate, or, as phrased by this Court, are the claims "either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record." McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948 (Fla. 2002). There is no provision for an evidentiary hearing on a rule 3.800(a) motion and there were no attachments to the trial court order denying relief. Thus, the issue came down to whether the claim was facially valid in alleging that the trial court record and Apprendi showed on their face that Apprendi had overruled Mays and retroactively declared section 921.0014(2) be to unconstitutionally applied.

The district court correctly held, as shown below, that Apprendi is not retroactively applicable to postconviction proceedings. However, despite having disposed of the case by its decision that Apprendi was inapplicable to postconviction proceedings, the district court gratuitously held that Apprendi had overruled Mays and that section 921.0014(2) was unconstitutionally applied. This was done without the benefit of the trial court record. The state disagrees for the following reasons.

First, the ruling was not necessary to the disposition of the appeal. It is too elementary to require citation that an

appellate court should not gratuitously declare statutes unconstitutional and overrule decisions of superior courts.

Second, as the trial court correctly recognized, no inferior state court has the constitutional authority to overrule decisions of this Court. Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973)("To allow a District Court of Appeal to overrule controlling precedent of this Court would be to create chaos and uncertainty in the judicial forum, particularly at the trial level." District courts "are free to certify questions of great public interest to this Court for consideration, and even to state their reasons for advocating change." A "District Court of Appeal does not have the authority to overrule a decision of the Supreme Court of Florida."

Third, because this was an appeal of a summary denial of a rule 3.800(a) motion pursuant to rule 9.141(b), the record on appeal was truncated and it cannot be confidently asserted that section 921.0014(2) was unconstitutionally applied to the trial facts contained in the trial court record, but not the appellate, record. For instance, if the trial court record showed that it was uncontroverted that the evidence presented to the jury showed that the battery on which conviction was had was so violent that the victim's jaw was broken on both sides, it could be confidently concluded that any error, assuming there was error, in not obtaining a jury finding that the injury was severe was harmless under the Supreme Court's application of Apprendi. See, United States v. Cotton, et al, 122 S.Ct. 1781

(2002) (Even assuming plain error, there is no prejudice in not submitting a factual question to the jury when the evidence is overwhelming and uncontroverted)¹.

Fourth, the Florida Legislature, subject only to the cruel and unusual punishments clauses of the United States and Florida constitutions, has the plenary authority to prescribe maximum, and minimum, punishments for criminal offenses. Section 921.0014(2) prescribes indeterminate maximum and minimum sentences. If the Florida Legislature wishes to prescribe the maximum statutory sentence, using an indeterminate sentencing guidelines scoresheet, it has the constitutional authority to do so and the new maximum statutory sentence falls within the prescribed statutory maximum of Apprendi.

Fifth, even if one assumes that victim injury points should be determined by the jury and not the judge under <u>Apprendi</u>, and the state suggests it does not as argued below, that does not cause section 921.0014(2) to be unconstitutional nor does it overrule <u>Mays</u>. It only requires that this Court exercise its rulemaking authority under article V, section 5 of the Florida Constitution to formulate a rule for instructing the jury on all

¹The First District, contrary to rule 9.141(b), somewhat like the Third District in McLin, regularly ignores the narrow scope of review in rule 9.141(b) and the truncated record on appeal by directing the state pursuant to Toler v. State, 493 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) to address issues which cannot be adequately addressed in a rule 9.141(b) appeal. Here, for example, the state has the record on appeal from the direct appeal and knows well that there is no factual basis for arguing that victim injury was at issue.

crimes involving victim injury where the injury does not inhere in the crime.

The state turns now to the certified question.

Standard of Review

The issue of whether <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, is applied retroactively is a question of law, and therefor is subject to de novo review.

Argument

In <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, the United States Supreme Court held that "any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S. at 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348. Petitioner contends that his sentences is illegal in violation of <u>Apprendi</u> because the assessment of victim injury points caused his sentence to exceed the statutory maximum pursuant to section 921.0014(2), Florida Statutes (1997). However, petitioner's conviction was final on December 29, 1999, and the United States Supreme Court issued <u>Apprendi</u> on June 26, 2000. <u>Hughes v. State</u>, 826 So.2d 1070, 1072 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). Therefore, the question before this Court is whether <u>Apprendi</u> qualifies for retroactive application.

² Section 921.0014(2) allows for an increase in the statutory maximum to the maximum guideline sentencing range when a criminal defendant's guidelines score raises the sentencing range beyond the statutory maximum set forth in Section 775.082, Florida Statutes.

In Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980), this Court set forth its test for determining whether or not a change of law requires retroactive application. This Court stated that an alleged change of law will not be considered for retroactive application unless the change: "(a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance." Id. at 931. Florida based its test for retroactivity on the considerations set forth in Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967), and <u>Linkletter v. Walker</u>, 381 U.S. 618, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1967), in which the United States Supreme Court looked to the purpose to be served by the new rule, the extent of the reliance on the old rule, and the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule. Stovall, 388 U.S. at 297, 87 S.Ct at 1967. Apprendi does emanate for the United States Supreme Court and involves the right to a jury trial; however, Apprendi does not constitute a development of fundamental significance.

"A change of law that constitutes a development of fundamental significance will ordinarily fall into one of two categories:

(a) a change of law which removes from the state the authority or power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties, or (b) a change of law which is of sufficient magnitude to require retroactive application." Hughes v. State, 826 So. 2d 1070, 1073(Fla. 1st DCA 2002). "[T]he Apprendi ruling

does not divest the state of the right to prohibit any conduct or the right to establish punishments for proscribed conduct[.]"

Id. Hence, the question is whether it is a change of law which is of sufficient magnitude to require retroactive application.

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799

(Fla. 1963), is an example of a law change which was of sufficient magnitude to require retroactive application. Witt, at 929. However, this Court also said:

In contrast to these jurisprudential upheavals are evolutionary refinements in the criminal law, different standards for the affording new or admissibility of evidence, for procedural fairness, for proportionality review of capital cases, and for other like matters. Emergent rights in these categories, or the retraction of former rights of this genre, do not compel an abridgement of the finality of judgments. To allow them that impact would, we are convinced, destroy the stability of the law, render punishments uncertain and therefore ineffectual, and burden the judicial machinery of our state, fiscally and intellectually, beyond any tolerable limit.

Witt, at 929-930. For example in Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1965), "the Supreme Court refused to give retroactive application to the newly-announced exclusionary rule of Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961)." Witt, at 929 n.26.

To determine if a change of law is of significant magnitude this court applies <u>Stovall/Linkletter</u> test which "requires an analysis of (i) the purpose to be served by the new rule; (ii) the extent of reliance on the old rule; and (iii) the effect that retroactive application of the rule will have on the administration of justice." <u>Hughes</u> at 1073. Crucial to the

court's analysis is the purpose to be served by the new rule. "Apprendi serves the purpose of ensuring that once a defendant is found guilty, that defendant may not receive a sentence higher than the statutory maximum unless those factors which are used to impose that above-the-maximum sentence are charged in the indictment and proven to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt." Hughes at 1073. However, the court noted that "[a]though the Apprendi ruling implicates due process and equal protection concerns, it does not specifically operate to prevent any grievous injustices or disparities in sentencing between equally situated defendants. Rather, this change of law merely changes the procedure employed for determining the appropriate sentence." Id. The court explained that for example "the plight of a defendant who is serving a sentence that was enhanced because of judge-decided factors is not necessarily any more severe than that of an equally-situated defendant whose sentence was enhanced based on jury-determined factors. fact, it is conceivable that, if given the opportunity, a jury might find even more enhancing factors than would have been found by the judge." Hughes at 1074. Furthermore, Apprendi still allows the trial judge to access points for sentencing factors as long as the sentences falls within the statutory maximum. Id. Thus, the due process and equal protection concerns involved in Apprendi are so insignificant that it does not require retroactive application.

Indeed, in looking to the significance of Apprendi in contrast to other violations which required retroactive application, this Court should consider the fact that had the issue been properly presented and preserved in the trial court, there is very little expectation that the outcome of the sentence would be any For example, if a criminal defendant requested a different. special verdict regarding the victim's injury, it is unlikely that a jury's findings regarding the severity of a victim's injury would be any different that of a judge. Whereas there is a strong likelihood of a criminal defendant unfamiliar with the rules of evidence and unaware that crucial evidence against him is subject to suppression, will be convicted when unrepresented and acquitted if represented by competent counsel. Therefore, Gideon v. Wainwright, required retroactive application; however, Apprendi is not of sufficient magnitude because an Apprendi violation causes no harm to the defendant. The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals stated:

The accuracy that is improved by the <u>Apprendi</u> requirement is the better imposition of a proper sentence. In contrast, the accuracy that is improved by the rule of <u>Gideon</u> involves the basic determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence. By requiring that all defendants being charged with a serious crime are represented by counsel, <u>Gideon</u> protects the innocent from conviction. <u>Apprendi</u> merely limits the potential penalty to be imposed on a defendant.

<u>Goode v. United States</u>, 305 F.3d 378, 385 (6th Cir. 2002).

In fact, the United States Supreme Court recently held that an <u>Apprendi</u> claim is not plain or fundamental error. In <u>United</u> States v. Cotton, 122 S.Ct. 1781 (May 20, 2002), the high court

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